2007

William P. Ramey, III v. Salt Lake City Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

I. JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this Appeal pursuant to at least Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2a(3)(2).

II. ISSUE PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Issues

1. Is this Complaint/Cause of action subject to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and the common law exception for equitable relief? (*i.e.*, Whether Ramey's Requests for Injunctive Relief and Complaint is Subject to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.)

2. Did the trial court err by denying Ramey's requested Temporary Restraining Order, as Ramey was a bona fide purchaser and was experiencing harm? (*i.e.*, Whether the trial court properly denied Ramey's injunctive relief.)

3. Did the trial court err by not addressing Ramey's pending requests for injunctive relief? (*i.e.*, Whether the Trial court Committed Error in not Addressing Ramey's pending Requests for Injunctive Relief.)

4. Did the trial court err in denying Ramey's Request for Relief Under Rule 59 and 60? (*i.e.*, Whether the Trial court Improperly Denied Ramey's Request for Relief Under Rule 59 and 60.)

5. Did the trial court err in granting Appellant Salt Lake City Corporation's Motion to Dismiss? (*i.e.*, Whether the Trial court Improperly Granted Appellants Salt Lake City Corporation's Motion to Dismiss.)

III. STANDARDS OF REVIEW AND CONTROLLING AUTHORITY

The issue of whether this Complaint/Cause of action is subject to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and the common law exception for injunctive relief is a question law. Specifically, it is a question of common law interpretation which the appellate court is well suited to address, and gives no deference to the lower court. See Trujillo v. Jenkins, 840 P.2d 777, 778-79 (Utah 1992); State v. Richardson, 843 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) ("[W]e consider the trial court's interpretation of binding case law as presenting a question of law and review the trial court's interpretation of that law for correctness.").

Upon information and belief, a trial court's interpretation of statutes, rules and ordinances is a question of law reviewed for correctness. See, e.g., Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999); Taylor ex rel. C.T. v. Johnson, 977 P.2d 479, 480 (Utah 1999); Loporto v. Hoegemann, 370 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 22 (Utah Ct. App. 1999) (judicial

code); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr., 977 P.2d 518, 521 (Utah Ct. App. 1999) (contractor licensing).

The issue of whether the trial court erred by denying Ramey's requested Temporary Restraining Order is, upon information and belief, abuse of discretion. See Aquagen Int'l, Inc. v. Calrae Trust, 972 P.2d 411, 412 (Utah 1998); Miller v. Martineau & Co., 372 Utah Adv. Rep. 34, 36 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

Whether the Trial court Committed Error in not Addressing Ramey's pending Requests for Injunctive Relief is, upon information and belief, reviewed under correctness of law. See S.S. v. State, 972 P.2d 439, 440-41 (Utah 1998); Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr., 977 P.2d 518, 522 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). This standard of review has also been referred to as a "correction of error standard." Jacobsen Inv. Co. v. State Tax Comm'n, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah 1992); Sanders v. Ovard, 838 P.2d 1134, 1135 (Utah 1992); Commercial Union Assocs. v. Clayton, 863 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). As used by Utah's appellate courts, "correctness" means that no particular deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. See Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); State v. Pena, 869

P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994); Rackley v. Fairview Care Ctrs., Inc., 970 P.2d 277, 280 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

The issue of whether the Trial court erred in denying Ramey's Request for Relief Under Rule 59 and 60 is, upon information and belief, reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Supporting authority includes: See Child v. Gonda, 972 P.2d 425, 428 (Utah 1998); State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 938 (Utah 1994) ("At the extreme end of the discretion spectrum would be a decision by the trial court to grant or deny a new trial based on insufficiency of the evidence."); Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr., 977 P.2d 518, 522 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). See Butters v. Jackson, 917 P.2d 87, 88 (Utah Ct. App. 1996).

However, as the refusal to grant a new trial was also from an application of the law, upon information and belief, the appropriate standard is a correctness standard. Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993); see State v. Thurman, 846 P.2d 1256, 1270 n.11 (Utah 1993); State v. Ramirez, 817 P.2d 774, 781-82 n.3 (Utah 1991).

The issue of whether the Trial court Improperly Granted Appellant Salt Lake City Corporation's Motion to Dismiss is, upon information and

belief, is correction of error. See Avila v. Winn, 794 P.2d 20, 22 (Utah 1990).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Proceedings Below

This appeal is taken from the Trial court's error in denying William P. Ramey III's ("Ramey") Temporary Restraining Order and the error in dismissing Ramey's remaining requests for injunctive relief/equitable relief and remaining causes of action.

1. The Three Main Points of the Case Below

The three main contentions that led Ramey to file the underlying action from which this Appeal is taken are: (Exhibit F to Docketing Statement, Affidavit of TRO, ¶ 3)

i. Ramey was and is a bona fide purchaser for value for certain real property located at 38 South 1000 East, salt Lake City, UT 84102 (hereinafter referred to as the "SLC property")).

ii. Ramey acted in reliance on Salt Lake City Corporation's (hereinafter referred to as "the SLC Corp") approved Final Inspection Permits for certain repairs and construction performed on the SLC Property

and the absence of recorded non-compliance issues at the Recorder of Deeds.

iii. Ramey acted in reliance on the Special Exception issued by the SLC Corp in the summer of 2006 approving the previously inspected and approved repairs and construction.

B. Background

1. Purchase of the SLC Property

On or about August 10, 2005 Plaintiff Ramey purchased certain real property at 38 South 1000 East, Salt Lake City, UT 84102 (hereinafter referred to as “SLC Property”) for \$575,000.00 dollars. There were no Certificates of Non-compliance recorded against the property. (See Affidavit of William P. Ramey, III accompanying the Request for a Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction, ¶ 4.)(hereinafter referred to as Affidavit)

The SLC Property had undergone several years of restoration including all electrical, plumbing and support structures. As such, there was a tremendous amount of contractor work service performed at the SLC Property. (Affidavit, ¶ 5)

Many of these contract work services performed at the SLC Property required special permitting and inspection procedures by the Appellee SLC

Corp that results in an ultimate Final Inspection report whereby the SLC Corp approves the contractor work services. (Affidavit, ¶ 6) Appellee SLC Corp performed several Mechanical inspections as to the placement of this A/C Unit that ultimately resulted in Permit No. 199163, Final Inspection, dated March 4, 2005, approved by, upon information and belief, Buck, #24. A true and correct copy of which is attached as Exhibit A of the Affidavit. (See Affidavit, ¶ 8 and Exhibit A) This final approval was the approval by the SLC Corp of the placement of the A/C Unit. (Affidavit, ¶ 8, Exhibit A)

2. Granted permits were relied upon in the purchase of the SLC Property

Ramey purchased the SLC Property in reliance upon the various permits issued by the SLC Corp, especially the Final Approval of permit 199163. (Affidavit, ¶ 9)

In or about April of 2006, Ramey became aware that the SLC Corp had filed a Certificate of Non-compliance against the SLC Property. The alleged Non-compliance was the placement of the A/C Unit within four (4) feet of the property line. Ramey contacted the SLC Corp's Planning and Zoning division and was ultimately directed to Kevin LoPiccolo, Zoning Administrator (hereinafter referred to as "LoPiccolo"). LoPiccolo informed Ramey that the Final Approval had been granted improperly. Ramey

informed LoPiccolo that he had purchased the property in reliance upon the permits issued by his office of the SLC Corp. Ramey informed LoPiccolo that he felt he was a bona fide purchaser for value. (Affidavit, ¶ 11) Ramey and LoPiccolo spoke several more times over the next few weeks. In fact, Ramey supplied the SLC Corp with copies of various final approvals that had been lost by the SLC Corp. (Affidavit, ¶ 12) On information and belief, the approvals were never lost by the SLC Corp, but thrown out.

3. Ramey filed and was granted a Special Exception by the SLC Corp.

LoPiccolo informed Ramey that the only option for Ramey to keep the A/C Unit in its location was to file a Special Exception Request. (Affidavit, ¶ 13). The Special Exception allows the SLC Corp and/or the Community to approve a building project. Ramey protested being required to seek approval for that which was already approved. The SLC Corp has a procedure in place for inspecting and approving building projects that was followed. Ramey purchased the property in reliance on that procedure and the SLC Corp should not be allowed to change its mind at a later date. To allow the SLC Corp to make such changes removes all certainty in the approval and inspection process. (Affidavit, ¶ 14)

However, Ramey did prepare the Special Exception request in an attempt to comply with the SLC Corp. The Special Exception Request is a long process whereby an Applicant provides a planned improvement, with all of the specification drawings, the \$200 fee, the cost for the mailing, and the address labels. Putting the documents together required about 20 hours worth of work and \$204. A true and correct copy of Ramey's Special Exception Request is attached as Exhibit B to the Affidavit. The Special Exception Request was a complete document and accepted by the SLC Corp for review. (Affidavit, ¶ 16)

Ramey contacted LoPiccolo on numerous occasions concerning the Special Exception Request. (Affidavit, ¶ 17) On or about June 19, 2006, the SLC Corp granted the Special Exception request. (Affidavit, ¶ 18) Ramey was told by Piccolo that the granting of the Special Exception Request was at least in part because the A/C Unit was a pre-existing condition at the time Ramey purchased the property and because of other adjacent properties to the SLC Property likewise had A/C Units placed in comparable proximity to the property line, namely the property at 42 South 1000 East. Shortly thereafter, the Special Exception was recorded at the County Recorder's Office. (Affidavit, ¶ 19)

4. Ramey moved to Texas and the SLC Corp filed another Notice of Noncompliance

Ramey then moved to Houston, Texas in August of 2006. However, Ramey still owned the SLC Property and had put it on the market. (Affidavit, ¶ 20) On or about November 16, 2006, LoPiccolo contacted Ramey's agent and stated that the placement of the A/C Unit was not in compliance. In response, Ramey immediately contacted LoPiccolo, as they had talked before. LoPiccolo informed Ramey that the SLC Corp was going to issue another Notice of noncompliance against the SLC Property for the placement of the A/C Unit. Ramey questioned LoPiccolo as to how that was possible in light of the two previous approvals and the fact that Ramey was a bona fide purchaser of the pre-existing condition. LoPiccolo informed him that the SLC Corp was requiring the action and there was nothing he could do. (Affidavit, ¶ 21) Ramey's agent questioned whether the SLC property could be sold as it is presently permitted. (Affidavit, ¶22).. Further, LoPiccolo informed Ramey that the SLC Corp has told Ramey's neighbor that the SLC Property is not legally in compliance. (Affidavit, ¶23)

5. Ramey Filed a Request for a TRO and accompanying Complaint

Thereafter, in December of 2006, Ramey filed a Request for a Temporary Restraining Order (hereinafter referred to as "TRO") and Request for a Preliminary Injunction.

In a Complaint filed concurrently (hereinafter referred to as "Complaint"), Ramey further complained that the SLC Corp's action, by and through Kevin LoPiccolo and others acted to dissuade purchasers, acted to cause potential purchasers to look elsewhere, and acted to prevent Ramey from selling the property at market value. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-46).

Further, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp has a duty to the property owners of Salt Lake City to honor its previously issued permits and Special Exceptions. At a minimum, it would be expected that the SLC Corp would honor its issued permits as to a bona fide purchaser or a purchaser of a pre-existing condition. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-63).

Further, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp has a duty to the property owners of Salt Lake City to not falsely make accusations. At a minimum, it would be expected that the SLC Corp would not contact people to falsely state that the SLC Property is not legally in compliance. The SLC Corp has contacted Ramey's agent and stated that the SLC Property was not legally in compliance. The SLC Corp has contacted Ramey's neighbor and

stated that the SLC Property is not legally in compliance. Ramey has been damaged by these false statements by the SLC Corp at least to the appraised value of the property without the Certificate of Non-compliance. All of the permits and a Special Exception have been issued by the SLC Corp. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-86).

Further, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp has a duty to treat all subject properties in a particular zoning area the same. The standard of care would be that the rules should be enforced the same throughout a particular zoning area. The SLC property is in zone R-2. The SLC Corp has not treated all property owners within Ramey's zone the same or similar. Ramey's neighbor, at 42 South 1000 East, has a similar A/C Unit that should be treated like Ramey's A/C Unit. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Further, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp's action issuing a Certificate of Non-compliance and/or issuing a Certificate of Non-compliance for the previously approved Final Inspection of Permit 199163 and the approved Special Exception for the A/C Unit is being perpetuated falsely without any legal basis. Ramey is a bona fide purchaser for value and the A/C Unit has been approved twice. The SLC Corp is bullying Ramey by preventing him from transferring title of the SLC Property. Ramey will continue to be harmed by this false perpetuation and Appellee

SLC Corp's wrongful conduct at least to the appraised value of the property without the Certificate of Non-compliance. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Further, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp's action of recording a Certificate of Non-compliance for the previously approved Final Inspection of Permit 199163 and the approved Special Exception for the A/C Unit is being perpetuated falsely without any legal basis. Ramey is a bona fide purchaser for value and the A/C Unit has been approved twice. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Likewise, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp's action of recording a Certificate of Non-compliance for the previously approved Final Inspection of Permit 199163 was perpetuated falsely without any legal basis. Ramey is a bona fide purchaser for value and the A/C Unit was approved. Ramey was harmed by this false perpetuation and Appellee SLC Corp's wrongful conduct. As the direct and proximate result of Appellee SLC Corp's wrongful conduct, Appellee has unlawfully profited and Ramey has suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable harm. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Further, Ramey complained that the SLC Corp's action of recording a Certificate of Non-compliance for the previously approved Final Inspection of Permit 199163 was perpetuated falsely without any legal basis. Ramey is

a bona fide purchaser for value and the A/C Unit was approved. The SLC Corp is bullying Ramey by preventing him from transferring title of the SLC Property. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Further, Ramey complained that Ramey is being treated differently than even his neighbor who has a similar A/C Unit. Upon information and belief, Ramey's neighbor, at 42 South 1000 East, has not been harassed or even contacted concerning the A/C Unit on that property. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Further, Ramey complained that the Appellee SLC Corp, by and through LoPiccolo, made a false statement to Ramey's neighbor and real estate agent that the property was out of compliance. The SLC Corp knew that all of the permits had been approved and that a Special Exception had been granted. The SLC Corp's actions damaged Ramey by destroying the alienability of the SLC Property. (See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

Further, Ramey complained that the Appellee SLC Corp, by and through LoPiccolo and, upon information and belief, other SLC Corp employees, has spread the word that the SLC property is not in compliance, a false statement. The SLC Corp knew that all of the permits had been approved and that a Special Exception had been granted. The SLC Corp's

actions damaged Ramey by destroying the alienability of the SLC Property.
(See Complaint, ¶s 1-91).

6. The TRO was denied

The TRO was denied on or about December 15, 2005. As a result:

(1) Ramey suffered irreparable harm because the order or injunction did not issue and Ramey was not able to sell the property because of the Recorded Notice of Non-compliance;

(2) The injury to Ramey outweighed any alleged damage that the SLC Corp might have experienced, as the damage is quantifiable;

(3) The injunction would have served the public interest in that it would have at least restored certainty to the process; and

(4) There is a substantial likelihood that Ramey would have and will prevail on the merits of the underlying claim because Ramey has a validly issued permit and a granted Special Exception.

In fact, the SLC Corp admitted such in the Motion Hearing Transcript from March 12, 2007 (hereinafter referred to as “Hearing Transcript”¹), transcribed and reported back to the Third Trial court on or about August 15,

¹ A copy of this hearing transcript was not received by Appellant until late August 2007. Appellant has concurrently filed a supplemental docketing statement with this Appeal Brief adding the transcript of the March 12, 2007 Motion Hearing to the record on appeal.

2007 and attached in the Appendix of this Appellate Brief. On page 6, line 19, Ms Furse, representing the SLC Corp, stated that

For instance, if he were to appeal to the Third District and get a decision that Salt Lake City erred, then he can do one of two things. Either he can e content, get his decision and not have a problem or he can claim, "Okay, because of the error that was made, as recognized by the Third Trial court, now I'm entitled to damages.

(Exhibit A to the Appendix, lines 19-24). Accordingly, the SLC Corp admitted that if it is shown that the SLC Corp erred in the handling of the SLC Property then Ramey was damaged.

After denying Ramey's TRO, the Trial court allowed the SLC Corp an extension of time to answer, effectively staying the action. The SLC Corp's new answer date was extended to about January 12, 2007. (See Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Relief Under Rule 59 and 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure ("Motion Under Rule 59 or 60"), ¶17).

On or about January 17, 2007, Ramey did file a Notice and Request for Decision on Plaintiffs Motion for Injunctive relief on or about January 12, 2007. This Court never ruled on Plaintiff's injunctive relief. (See Clerk's Docket, p. 2).

7. The SLC Corp filed a Motion to Dismiss

Rather than answer, the SLC Corp filed a Motion to Dismiss. The SLC Corp's Motion to Dismiss was at least in part predicated upon Ramey's alleged failure to exhaust his administrative remedies and Ramey's alleged failure to give sixty days Notice to the SLC Corp prior to filing suit. (See Motion Under Rule 59 or 60, ¶18).

Ramey did file a Notice and Request for Decision on Plaintiffs Motion for Injunctive relief on or about January 12, 2007. The Trial court never ruled on Plaintiff's injunctive relief. (See Motion Under Rule 59 or 60, ¶19). This period of time was while the Court ordered stay was in effect.

Ultimately, after briefing and a Motion Hearing, on or about March 12, 2007, the Trial court granted the SLC Corp's motion to dismiss in a Minute Entry issued March 14, 2007. (See Minute Entry of March 14, 2007).

At the Motion Hearing, the SLC Corp argued that Ramey's Complaint is about seeking damages from the SLC Corp. (See Appendix, Hearing Transcript, p. 4, l. 9 to p. 7, l. 8). Ramey's Complaint and request for injunctive relief has always been about the fact that

1. Ramey was a Bona Fide Purchaser for Value;
2. Ramey Acted in Reliance on SLC Corp Permits in Purchasing the SLC Property; and,

3. Ramey asserts that he is a bona fide purchaser for value relying on the permits issued by the City in the purchase of the SLC Property. (See Motion Under Rule 59 or 60, ¶s 6-21).

Ramey sought the injunctive relief to stop the SLC Corp from its abuse of the process and return certainty to that process. The SLC Corp cannot recast Ramey's cause of action.

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