2007

# William P. Ramey, III, an individual v. Salt Lake City Corporation, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**A. Because Mr. Ramey Failed to Exhaust His Administrative Remedies, the Court below Correctly Dismissed for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.**

Mr. Ramey’s failure to exhaust his administrative remedies required the trial court to dismiss his Complaint. In this case, Mr. Ramey had a right to appeal his dispute under Salt Lake City Code of Ordinances sections 21A.12.040(D) and 21A.16.020. However, he does not claim in his Complaint, his Response to the

Motion to Dismiss, or on appeal that he appealed to the Board of Adjustment and received a result prior to filing in district court. Thus, Mr. Ramey had an administrative remedy regarding a land use decision that he failed to exhaust prior to filing suit. Mr. Ramey's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies deprived the trial court of jurisdiction, and it therefore correctly dismissed Mr. Ramey's Complaint.

Utah law states, "No person may challenge in district court a municipality's land use decision made under this chapter, or under authority of this chapter, until that person has exhausted the person's administrative remedies." Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801(1). Thus, prior to filing his Complaint, Mr. Ramey was required to exhaust administrative remedies, by appealing the land use decision and following the appeal process outlined in the City's ordinance. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-701(1)(b) ("Each municipality adopting a land use ordinance shall, by ordinance, establish one or more appeal authorities to hear and decide: . . . (b) appeals from decisions applying the land use ordinances.") Failure to exhaust administrative remedies deprives a court of subject matter jurisdiction, leaving it with "only the authority to dismiss the action." *Hom v. Utah Dept. of Pub. Safety*, 962 P.2d 95, 99 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Varian-Eimac, Inc. v. Lamoreaux*, 767 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)).

The land use decision at issue found that the location of an air conditioning unit on Mr. Ramey's property did not comply with the City's zoning ordinance. The Certificate of Noncompliance, dated November 21, 2006 (R. at 119),

specifically stated that the noncompliance is with respect to Salt Lake City Code of Ordinances (SLCCO) section 21A.36.020(B). That land use ordinance requires that central air condition systems “shall be located not less than 4 feet from a lot line.” *Id.* To appeal the decision that the unit does not meet this requirement, Mr. Ramey was required to follow the City’s procedure authorized by Utah Code Annotated section 10-9a-801. Under City Code, “Any person adversely affected by an interpretation rendered by the zoning administrator may appeal to the board of adjustment in accordance with the provisions of chapter 21A.16 of this part.” SLCCO § 21A.12.040(D). Chapter 21A.16 specifically states, “An applicant or any other person or entity adversely affected by a decision administering or interpreting this title [21A, Zoning] may appeal to the board of adjustment.”<sup>6</sup> SLCCO § 21A.16.020. However, rather than appealing the land use decision as required by statute and ordinance, Mr. Ramey filed an action in district court.

Mr. Ramey argues that he was not required to exhaust his administrative remedies, because his Complaint is about the City’s policies and procedures, not about the Certificate of Noncompliance.<sup>7</sup> (Ramey Brief, p. 22, 24.) However, Mr. Ramey’s Complaint is based on the land use decision itself, and he is therefore required to exhaust the statutorily mandated administrative remedies before a trial

---

<sup>6</sup> Under either City Code section 21A.12.040(D) or section 21A.16.020 Mr. Ramey has an administrative remedy, to the same entity, which he did not exhaust.

<sup>7</sup> Nevertheless, in his Complaint, Mr. Ramey repeatedly cites the City’s filing of a Certificate of Non-compliance against his property as a reason for filing his Complaint. (R. at 9-15 at ¶¶ 46, 52, 58, 63, 65-66, 69-71, 74-76, 79-86, 91, 93-97, and Prayer for Relief.)

court has jurisdiction to hear his case. *See Patterson v. Am. Fork City*, 2003 UT 7, ¶¶16-17, 67 P.3d 466 (interpreting predecessor statute and dismissing state law claims for failure to exhaust administrative remedies available for municipal land use decisions before filing in district court). Because Mr. Ramey failed to exhaust his administrative remedies by appealing that decision as required by City ordinance, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to hear Mr. Ramey’s Complaint and properly dismissed it.

Further, if Mr. Ramey had followed the administrative appeal process before pursuing relief in court, the purposes behind the exhaustion requirement may have been met. The exhaustion requirement:

“serves the twin purposes of protecting administrative agency authority and promoting judicial efficiency,” *McCarthy v. Madigan*, 503 U.S. 140, 145, 112 S.Ct. 1081, 117 L.Ed.2d 291 (1992), by allowing an agency to correct its own mistakes and apply its expertise in resolving conflict and by creating a factual record for judicial review, respectively.

*Culbertson v. Bd. Of Co. Comm’ns of Salt Lake Co.*, 2001 UT 108, ¶28, 44 P.3d 642; *see also Hom v. Utah Dept. of Pub. Safety*, 962 P.2d 95, 99 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). By filing directly in state court, Mr. Ramey denied the City the opportunity to apply its expertise and correct any mistakes, if necessary. Additionally, by filing his action before the Board of Adjustment had the opportunity to review the decision, Mr. Ramey sought to avoid the administrative hearing and attempted instead to obtain relief directly from the court. The Utah legislature and the Salt Lake City Council have made quite clear, however, that the statutory process cannot be circumvented.

Mr. Ramey's dispute about the land use decision is appealable under Salt Lake City Code of Ordinances section 21A.16.020 and section 21A.12.040(D). Despite this plain language, Mr. Ramey does not claim in his Complaint, his Response to the Motion to Dismiss, or on appeal that he appealed to the board of adjustment and received a result prior to filing suit, because he cannot. Mr. Ramey had an administrative remedy, regarding a land use decision, which he did not exhaust before filing his Complaint. Mr. Ramey's failure to exhaust deprived the trial court of jurisdiction leaving it only with the authority to dismiss. Therefore, this Court should affirm the dismissal below on this ground and need go no further.

**B. Mr. Ramey's Claims Were Correctly Dismissed Because He Failed to Comply with the Requirements for Making a Claim Against a Governmental Entity.**

Even if the lower court could have overlooked Mr. Ramey's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies, his failure to file a written Notice of Claim against the City in compliance with the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah deprived the trial court of jurisdiction and invalidated the claims outlined in his Complaint.<sup>8</sup> Under Utah law,

---

<sup>8</sup> The City is also immune from suit for Mr. Ramey's claims, but because the trial court lacked jurisdiction to hear the matter, this issue was not briefed. Under the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah, governmental immunity is not waived:

Under Subsections (3) and (4) [of the Act] if the injury arises out of, in connection with, or results from:

(a) the exercise or performance, or the failure to exercise or perform, a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused;

Any person having a claim against a governmental entity, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority *shall file a written Notice of Claim with the entity before maintaining an action*, regardless of whether or not the function giving rise to the claim is characterized as governmental.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-401(2) (2006) (emphasis added). The claimant can file an action in court sixty days after filing the Notice of Claim if the governmental entity or employee has either denied the claim or failed to respond to the claim. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-403 (2006).

Mr. Ramey argues that the City had notice of his claims, since he and the City “were in constant communication throughout 2006.” (Ramey Brief 26-27.) Whether or not he and the City were in communication, he was still required to follow the Notice of Claim provisions set out in section 63-30d-401(2), above. The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the UGIA generally, and the Notice of Claim provision in particular, “demands strict compliance with its requirements to allow suit against governmental entities.” *Wheeler v. McPherson*,

- 
- (b) assault, battery, false imprisonment, false arrest, malicious prosecution, intentional trespass, abuse of process, libel, slander, deceit, interference with contract rights, infliction of mental anguish, or violation of civil rights;
  - (c) the issuance, denial, suspension, or revocation of, or by the failure or refusal to issue, deny, suspend, or revoke, any permit, license, certificate, approval, order, or similar authorization;
  - (d) a failure to make an inspection or by making an inadequate or negligent inspection; . . .
  - (f) a misrepresentation by an employee whether or not it is negligent or intentional . . . .

The City reserved its right to assert this immunity if and when Mr. Ramey brings his claims in a court with jurisdiction. *See* Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30d-210 & -301.

2002 UT 16, ¶13, 40 P.3d 632 (interpreting predecessor statute). The UGIA requires plaintiffs to “file a written Notice of Claim with the [governmental] entity *before* maintaining an action.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-401(2) (2006) (emphasis added).

In this case, Mr. Ramey does not allege that he filed a written Notice of Claim with the City in compliance with the statute. In fact, Mr. Ramey admits that he filed a Notice of Claim on or about January 5, 2007, twenty-two days after he filed the Complaint in this action. (R. at 238, ln. 22 (“I filed the Notice of Claim on January 5, [2007]”).) Thus, Mr. Ramey failed to strictly comply with the UGIA. “A plaintiff’s failure to comply with the UGIA’s Notice of Claim provisions deprives the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction.” *Patterson v. Am. Fork City*, 2003 UT 7, ¶10, 67 P.3d 466. Therefore, the trial court’s only option was to dismiss the Complaint. *See Wheeler*, 2002 UT 16 at ¶16 (interpreting predecessor statute and holding that because plaintiffs failed to strictly comply with Act’s Notice of Claim requirement “the district court correctly dismissed plaintiffs’ claims for lack of jurisdiction”). The touchstone is not whether the governmental entity knew of the issues that would be presented in the Notice of Claim as Mr. Ramey asserts. (Ramey Brief p. 26-27.) Rather, the touchstone is whether he followed the notice requirements. *See Xiao v. Univ. of Utah*, 2006 UT 57, ¶7, 144 P.3d 1142 (reviewing dismissal for failure to comply with statute under subject matter jurisdiction rubric).

Mr. Ramey hints in his brief on appeal that he was not required to file a Notice of Claim sixty days prior to filing a complaint in district court. (Ramey Brief p. 17.) However, Utah law is clear that an action may only be instituted in the district court after a Notice of Claim is either denied or the statutory period for the governmental entity's response has run. Utah Code Annotated section 63-30d-403(2)(a) provides that "a claimant may institute an action in the district court against the governmental entity" if the claim is denied. Municipalities have sixty days in which to approve or deny a claim. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-403(1)(a). At the end of the sixty day period the claim is deemed denied if the municipality has not approved or denied the claim. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-403(1)(b). "[P]laintiffs with claims against the state 'may institute an action in the district court' only after their 'claim is denied.'" *Hall v. Utah Dept. of Corr.*, 2001 UT 34, ¶26, 24 P.3d 958 (interpreting predecessor statute). Thus, while an action may be filed in district court earlier than sixty days from the Notice of Claim if the claim is denied earlier, an action may not be initiated prior to or contemporaneously with the claim being filed. In this case, Mr. Ramey filed his Notice of Claim *after* filing suit with the district court, in contravention of the statute. Therefore, the trial court correctly dismissed Mr. Ramey's Complaint for lack of jurisdiction.



**C. Even if Mr. Ramey Has Alleged Equitable Claims, Those Claims Are Now Moot.**

Mr. Ramey also maintains that he is not required to comply with the Notice of Claim requirement in the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah because his claims are equitable. (Ramey Brief p. 25, 29-33.) In his Complaint, Mr. Ramey requested equitable relief in the form of the removal and/or the non-enforcement of the Certificate of Noncompliance. (R. at 16, prayer A-C.) Since filing his Complaint, the zoning ordinance violation on Mr. Ramey's property has been corrected, resulting in the removal of the Certificate of Noncompliance. *See* Certificate of Correction and Compliance (Addendum 2) (documenting removal of Certificate of Noncompliance because conditions which necessitated Certificate of Noncompliance have "been corrected"). Therefore, the equitable relief Mr. Ramey sought, through the removal and/or the non-enforcement of the Certificate of Noncompliance, has occurred, mooted his equitable claims.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> As stated in footnote 2, *supra*, Mr. Ramey included the trial court's denial of his request for a Temporary Restraining Order (Ramey Brief p. 1, issue 2) and the trial court's failure to address his claims for injunctive relief (*id.*, issue 3) in his statement of the issues. Neither of these was preserved for appeal in his notice of appeal, pursuant to Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 3(d) ("[t]he notice of appeal shall . . . designate the judgment or order, or part thereof, appealed from."). However, even if this Court were to liberally construe Mr. Ramey's notice of appeal under the "policy that where the notice of appeal sufficiently identifies the final judgment at issue and the opposing party is not prejudiced, the notice of appeal is to be liberally construed," *State ex rel. B.B.*, 2004 UT 39, ¶10, 94 P.3d 252, these issues are now moot. As documented in the Certificate of Correction and Compliance (Addendum 2), the Certificate of Noncompliance has been removed. The purpose for which Mr. Ramey sought injunctive relief was met when he took action to remedy the violation, and the Certificate of Noncompliance was removed.

Although the Certificate of Correction and Compliance is not in the Record, this Court may take judicial notice of it. Under Utah Rule of Evidence 201(f), judicial notice may be taken at “any stage of the proceedings,” including on appeal. *See, e.g., Fitzgerald v. Critchfield*, 744 P.2d 301, 305 (Utah App. 1987) (taking judicial notice on appeal for the first time a bankruptcy discharge). In this case, there was no opportunity for the issue to have been raised below; Mr. Ramey did not correct the problem, allowing the City to remove the Certificate, until after Mr. Ramey filed this appeal. *See Finlayson v. Finlayson*, 874 P.2d 843, 847 (Utah App. 1994) (“With very limited exceptions, judicial notice should not be used ‘to get around the rule precluding raising issues for the first time on appeal.’”) (quoting *Mel Trimble Real Estate v. Monte Vista Ranch, Inc.*, 758 P.2d 451, 456 (Utah App. 1988)). Accordingly, judicial notice may be taken that the Certificate of Noncompliance has been removed, mooted Mr. Ramey’s requests for injunctive relief.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>10</sup> Further, Mr. Ramey’s briefing of the trial court’s alleged error in “not addressing [his] pending requests for injunctive relief” is inadequate. (Ramey Brief p. 35.) This section of his brief lacks any analysis or fact application in violation of Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24. *See State v. Thomas*, 961 P.2d 299, 304 (Utah 1998) (“It is well established that a reviewing court will not address arguments that are not adequately briefed.”). More strikingly, the three cases he relies on for his proposition that the court erred by failing to address his pending injunctive relief (*S.S. v. State*, 972 P.2d 439 (Utah 1998); *Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254 (Utah 1998); and *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Aspen Const.*, 977 P.2d 518 (Utah App.1999)) are not about pending injunctive relief. In fact, injunctive relief is not discussed in any of these cases.

This Court can decline to issue an opinion on a moot issue, which would be appropriate in this case. *See State ex rel. S.L.*, 1999 UT App 390, ¶40, 995 P.2d 17 (“we generally decline to render an advisory opinion on a moot issue”). “[A] case is moot where the requested judicial relief cannot affect the rights of the litigants.” *Jones v. Schwendiman*, 721 P.2d 893, 894 (Utah 1986) (per curiam). In this case, the requested relief has been obtained.

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